WORKING PAPER 276

Mobilising Citizens: Social Movements and the Politics of Knowledge

Melissa Leach and Ian Scoones January 2007





About IDS

The Institute of Development Studies is one of the world's leading organisations for research, teaching and communications on international development. Founded in 1966, the Institute enjoys an international reputation based on the quality of its work and the rigour with which it applies academic skills to real world challenges. Its purpose is to understand and explain the world, and to try to change it – to influence as well as to inform.

IDS hosts five dynamic research programmes, five popular postgraduate courses, and a family of worldclass web-based knowledge services. These three spheres are integrated in a unique combination – as a development knowledge hub, IDS is connected into and is a convenor of networks throughout the world.

The Institute is home to approximately 80 researchers, 50 knowledge services staff, 50 support staff and about 150 students at any one time. But the IDS community extends far beyond, encompassing an extensive network of partners, former staff and students across the development community worldwide.



For further information on IDS publications and for a free catalogue, contact: IDS Communications Unit Institute of Development Studies at the University of Sussex Brighton BNI 9RE, UK

Tel: +44 (0) 1273 678269 Fax: +44 (0) 1273 621202 E-mail: bookshop@ids.ac.uk Web: www.ids.ac.uk/ids/bookshop

IDS is a charitable company, limited by guarantee and registered in England (No. 877338).

IDS WORKING PAPER 276

Mobilising Citizens: Social Movements and the Politics of Knowledge

Citizenship DRC Synthesis Paper

Melissa Leach and Ian Scoones January 2007 Mobilising Citizens: Social Movements and the Politics of Knowledge Melissa Leach and Ian Scoones IDS Working Paper 276

First published by the Institute of Development Studies in January 2007 \circledcirc Institute of Development Studies 2007 ISBN: 978 1 85864 627 8

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library. All rights reserved. Reproduction, copy, transmission, or translation of any part of this publication may be made only under the following conditions:

- with the prior permission of the publisher; or
- with a licence from the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd., 90 Tottenham Court Road, London WIP 9HE, UK, or from another national licensing agency; or
- under the terms set out below.

This publication is copyright, but may be reproduced by any method without fee for teaching or non-profit purposes, but not for resale. Formal permission is required for all such uses, but normally will be granted immediately. For copying in any other circumstances, or for re-use in other publications, or for translation or adaptation, prior written permission must be obtained from the publisher and a fee may be payable.

Available from: Communications Unit Institute of Development Studies at the University of Sussex Brighton BN1 9RE, UK Tel: +44 (0) 1273 678269 Fax: +44 (0) 1273 621202 E-mail: bookshop@ids.ac.uk Web: www.ids.ac.uk/ids/bookshop

Printed by Imagedata Group, Brighton UK IDS is a charitable company limited by guarantee and registered in England (No. 877338).

Mobilising Citizens: Social Movements and the Politics of Knowledge

Melissa Leach and Ian Scoones

Abstract

This paper reflects comparatively on a series of case studies of citizen mobilisation in both north and south, arguing that the politics of knowledge are now central. The cases focus on issues ranging from genetically-modified crops, vaccines, HIV/AIDS and occupational health, to struggles around water, housing, labour rights and the environment. In different ways, each has asked: who mobilises and who does not, how and why? How are activist networks constituted, involving what forms of identity, representation and processes of inclusion and exclusion? What forms of knowledge – including values, perceptions and experiences – frame these movements and how do citizens and 'experts' interact? What resources and spaces are important in mobilisation processes? The paper offers a synthesis of some of the major theoretical perspectives, lines of argument and issues emerging the case studies' responses to these questions. In the first part, it engages social movement theory with theories of citizenship. It draws out four overlapping perspectives on processes of mobilisation which are all important to understanding the cases, and which point towards an understanding of 'mobilising citizens' as knowledgeable actors engaged in a dynamic, networked politics across local and global sites. In the second part, the paper explores three key emergent themes: knowledge and power; cultures, styles and practices of activism, and the increasing array and complexity of arenas in which citizens press their claims, including legal spaces and the media. We argue that if contemporary processes of mobilisation and their implications for citizenship are to be understood there is a need to expand and enrich debates about social movements from a diversity of literatures. Today's dynamics of public controversy, debates about risk, and the forms of mobilisation and

protest arising requires putting the politics of knowledge centre-stage in our attempts to recast democratic theory and notions of citizenship, especially in today's global context.

Keywords: citizenship, knowledge, mobilisation, social movement, identity, network.

Melissa Leach is a social anthropologist and professorial fellow of IDS, where she leads the Knowledge, Technology and Society (KNOTS) Team. She is director of the ESRC Social, Technological and Environmental Pathways to Sustainability (STEPS) Centre. Her research interests include science-society relations, knowledge and policy processes around environmental and health issues, especially in Africa and comparatively in the UK.

Ian Scoones is a professorial fellow of IDS and a member of the KNOTS Team, convening its Agriculture programme. He is co-director of the ESRC STEPS Centre. He has worked extensively on issues of science and citizenship, and on the relationship between science, policy and local knowledge and practice in relation to issues of agricultural biotechnology, environment and pastoralism, largely in sub-Saharan Africa.

Contents

	Abstract	3
	Keywords, author note	4
	Preface	6
1	Introduction	7
2	Social movements and citizenship	9
	2.1 Theories of resource mobilisation and political process	10
	2.2 Theories of framing	11
	2.3 Theories of movement identity	12
	2.4 Theories of space, place and network	13
	2.5 Towards an integrative perspective	15
3	Emergent themes in contemporary mobilisation	16
	3.1 Knowledge, power and mobilisation	16
	3.2 Cultures, styles and practices of mobilisation	20
	3.3 Spaces for mobilisation	22
4	Conclusion	26
	References	28

Preface

This Working Paper is part of a series of synthesis papers from the Development Research Centre on Citizenship, Participation and Accountability (DRC). From 2001–2005, the Citizenship DRC was funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) to carry out research around four main themes: meanings and expressions of rights and citizenship; realising rights and claiming accountabilities; spaces for change; and citizens and science in the global context. The synthesis papers were commissioned to draw together the findings of the past five years work; speak to, challenge and critique existing literatures and assumptions; articulate and communicate policy implications of our work; and pull out key questions to inform our work in the future. The DRC is continuing to work for another five-year phase of research, with new themes relating to deepening democracy in states and localities, local-global citizen engagements and violence, participation and citizenship.

1 Introduction

Contemporary debates about the role of citizens in processes of development have often focused on institutionally-orchestrated forms of participation. Thus there has been an explosion of efforts to involve citizens in policy and decisionmaking, ranging from classic consultations to more innovative forms such as citizens' juries, councils and participatory appraisal. A large literature has emerged reflecting critically on these initiatives (Hickey and Mohan 2005) and the issues of power and representation that shape who actually influences agendas and how (Cornwall and Schattan P. Coelho 2004; Stirling 2005). However, it is evident that many instances of citizen engagement take place outside these institutionally-orchestrated spaces, through more spontaneous forms of mobilisation. These have been the subject of extensive scholarship on social movements, whether around classic struggles for material resources and political power (so-called 'old' social movements; e.g. Oberschall 1973; Tilly 1978) or around emergent issue or identity-focused struggles (so-called 'new' social movements; e.g. Habermas 1981; Eyerman and Jamison 1991; Slater 1985; Touraine 1985; Melucci 1989, 1995; Offe, 1985; Scott 1990; Laraña et al. 1994).

This paper offers a comparative reflection on a series of cases studies of citizen mobilisation undertaken under the auspices of the Development Research Centre on Citizenship, Participation and Accountability.¹ They cover examples from both north and south, encompassing both the more local and the more global. A number of themes are explored, including global mobilisations, with local sites, around genetically-modified (GM) crops in India, South Africa and Brazil (Scoones 2005) and more local struggles around particular rights, as in the case of mobilisation around housing rights in Mombasa, Kenya, highlighting the diverse strategies employed by council tenants in opposition to land grabbing and redevelopment (Nyamu-Musembi 2006). Environmentally-focused cases include environmental activism in Brazil, which looked at the profiles, career trajectories and styles of activists campaigning around a variety of natural resource and pollution issues (Alonso et al. 2006), and mobilisation around protected areas in Mexico, highlighting the contrasting visions of conservationists and local people (Pare and Cortez 2006). Several cases focus on water issues, including how citizens in South Africa mobilise around dam-building and issues of water scarcity in South Africa (Thompson 2005a and b), and the struggles of indigenous communities in Mexico to claim their rights to resources and inclusion in relation to watershed management plans (Pare and Robles 2006). Others focus on health issues, including vaccines in the UK where parents mobilised around their conviction that measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccination had triggered autism in their children (Leach 2005); HIV/AIDS in South Africa, where activists have successfully campaigned for rights to anti-retroviral treatment (Robins 2005a) and in the UK, where the

¹ These cases derive from two DRC programmes – on Science and Citizenship and Accountability and Rights (see www.drc-citizenship.org). In the sections that follow the cases cited below will be referred to, but without subsequent citations.

'normalisation' of ARV treatment has shaped contrasting modes of citizen engagement (Robins 2005a and b); and in Brazil where mobilisations have resulted in the creation of new health councils, acting as 'intermediary spaces' between the popular and political (Cornwall *et al.* 2006). Citizen engagement with industrial and corporate actors is a central theme in other cases, including the garment industry in Bangladesh where women garment workers have engaged in local struggles at the same time as international campaigns have been waged around worker conditions (Mahmud and Kabeer 2006); oil development in Nigeria, which looked at the complex dynamics of movements, and their links to political parties, local elites and militias, in the Niger delta (Abah and Okwori 2006); asbestos mining in South Africa, which examined how certain towns became focal points for mobilisation which successfully brought international litigation against a corporate asbestos company (Waldman 2005); and several cases in India where citizens have mobilised to hold corporations to account for damage to health and livelihoods (Newell *et al.* 2006).

In different ways, these case studies have asked: who mobilises and who does not, how and why? What are the patterns of experience, profiles and identities of activists? How are activist networks constituted, and what diverse forms do they take? What forms of identity, representation and processes of inclusion and exclusion are involved? What forms of knowledge – including values, perceptions and experiences – frame these public engagements and movements? Within what spaces do debates take place, and what resources are drawn upon? How do citizens and 'experts' of various kinds interact in processes of mobilisation? This paper offers a synthesis of some of the major theoretical perspectives, lines of argument and issues emerging from the different ways the case studies have addressed and answered these questions.

The first part of the paper offers a brief summary of theories of social movements, drawing out four overlapping perspectives on processes of mobilisation. Engaging social movement theory with theories of citizenship, we show how each perspective highlights different dimensions of citizenship. Understanding the mobilisation processes in the case studies, we suggest, requires a combination of perspectives. This points towards an understanding of 'mobilising citizens' as knowledgeable actors engaged in a dynamic, networked politics, which involves shifting and temporary forms of social solidarity and identification through processes that are sometimes local or national but sometimes involve networks that span local sites across the world.

In particular, three key themes emerge from the cases which the second part of the paper explores in more detail. These in turn require the linking of further areas of literature with those more conventionally associated with theories of social movement and citizenship to encompass a fuller understanding of the onthe-ground dynamics of mobilisation in the contemporary world. First, the theme of knowledge and power emerges as key, raising issues of how the politics of knowledge affect the framing and dynamics of mobilisation, as well as the deployment of information in struggles over meaning and interpretation. While past work on social movements has engaged with the politics of knowledge to some extent, we show how literatures on constructivist perspectives in science and technology studies help deepen insights and illuminate the processes involved.² Second, the theme of cultures, styles and practices of activism is highlighted, raising questions of how solidarities are formed and maintained. Literatures on social practice and performance enrich social movement theory in helping to comprehend these processes. A third theme highlights the increasing array and complexity of arenas in which citizens press their claims across local and global sites. Legal arenas for the pressing of rights claims amidst these other processes emerge as particularly significant, and literatures on legal pluralism and legal anthropology provide important insights; important too are media and internet spaces, where literatures from media and cyber-studies can enrich social movement theory.

In conclusion, the paper demonstrates the need to expand and enrich debates about social movements from a diversity of literatures if contemporary processes of mobilisation and their implications for citizenship are to be understood. It argues that today's dynamics of public controversy, debates about risk, and the forms of mobilisation and protest arising requires putting the politics of knowledge centre-stage in our attempts to recast democratic theory and notions of citizenship. The politics of knowledge become even more pertinent when encountering the interconnected and often globalised mobilisation networks around contemporary issues. However the diversity of case studies highlights that emergent patterns are far from uniform. Mobilisation processes emerge from and remain strongly shaped by political histories and cultures; both of citizens and of the public and private institutions they encounter. In particular, the conclusion highlights the dynamic tension between more collective forms of solidarity and citizenship identity, and more individualised forms of 'responsibilised citizen' emerging amidst cultures of neoliberalism.

2 Social movements and citizenship

Scholarship on social movements has a long and rich history, encompassing debates in sociology, political science and social geography, and with important analytical traditions having emerged from both northern and southern settings. There is no unified way of categorising the various strands of debate, and recent reviews have done this in very different ways (e.g. Tarrow 1998; Della Porta and Diani 1999; Edelman 2001; and Crossley 2002).³ Here, we draw out four distinctive perspectives in the analysis of social movements, centred respectively on theories of resource mobilisation and political process, perhaps the most well-known tradition emerging in particular from US-based political science;

² See for example the discussions on citizenship, the politics of knowledge and science elaborated in an earlier phase of the DRC work contained in the book 'Science and Citizens', see Leach and Scoones (2005).

³ Two reviews undertaken for the DRC work (Fransman and Mirosa-Canal 2004 and Lahitou 2005) provided useful syntheses and up-dates on this work.

theories of framing, emerging as an off-shoot of this, but with links to behavioural studies and psychology; theories of movement identity, with strong roots in European and also Latin American studies; and geographical and sociological theories that highlight the significance of space, place and networks.

2.1 Theories of resource mobilisation and political process

Emerging from seminal debates about the conditions for collective action (Olson 1965) and earlier discussions about collective behaviour (e.g. Park 1921) resource mobilisation theory focused on the balance of costs, rewards and incentives that provided people with the motivation to become involved in struggle. Early developments centred upon two elements. First, a rational actor model was employed, along with an economistic focus on exchange relations in social life. This was linked with a structural 'network' model of social relations and social life as emergent from the rational actions and exchanges of individuals. Thus Oberschall (1973) showed that collective protest is more likely to be present where there is a strong organisational base, in a collectivity distinct from the rest of society. McCarthy and Zald (1977), who coined the term 'resource mobilisation' argued that the increased availability of expanded personal resources, professionalisation, and external financial support made possible the creation of professional movement organisations.

By the 1980s resource mobilisation theory dominated the study of social movements, especially in the United States, yet came under critique for three main reasons.⁴ First, these theorists used the language of economics, but ignored how questions of ideology, commitment and values and, in particular, solidarity might motivate and draw together movement participants. Second, it was difficult to distinguish movements as defined in resource mobilisation theory from interest groups. Third the theory focused on professional movement organisations and particularly on the American context, ignoring the many grass-roots movements emerging in different parts of the world from the 1960s and 1970s.

One line of response to these critiques came to be known as 'political process' theory. While similarly emphasising movement resources and organisation, the political process approach seeks to explain mobilisation processes and their success or failure by reference to the political and institutional context. It stresses dynamism, strategic interaction, and response to the political environment and the 'political opportunity structures' made available. Historical work on political processes produced investigations of the forms of claims-making that people use in real-life situations, what has come to be called 'the repertoires of contention', which represent the culturally encoded ways in which people interact in contentious politics, sometimes within what was termed 'cycles of protest' (Tilly 1978; Tarrow 1998; McAdam 1982).

⁴ This paragraph and the next draw heavily on Fransman and Mirosa-Canal (2004).

With key strands of resource mobilisation theory premised on collective action emerging out of individual rational choice, a liberal version of citizenship is often suggested (cf. Marshall 1950). Citizens come together in collective action to highlight grievances or to press demands, which in liberal theory are usually in relation to the state. Citizens are seen as individuals who act rationally to advance their own interests, while the state's role is to protect and enforce their rights. Mobilisation emerges where the state fails to do this.

In the case study on environmental activism in Brazil, a political process approach was used which draws attention to how changes in political context notably from dictatorship to democracy - have changed the opportunities and focus for mobilisation. The so-called environmental movement in Brazil, linked as it was to a wider global network of activists, gained ascendancy through a variety of influences, not least the Brazilian hosting of the 1992 environment and development summit. In the case of local housing struggles in Mombasa, Kenya, political contexts and connections were vital to tenant associations' organising (or activities. There are very few successes to report- that's the point of the article). Links to political parties, often with ethnic dimensions, and particular connections to local and national politicians and government departments were key in the mobilisation process. Key events, such as a national commission and a parliamentary enquiry, provide important spurs for building solidarities and focusing action. In Nigeria, the emergence of movements focused on oil exploitation in the Niger delta again have a long history linked to changing political contexts in the region. Diverse movements have emerged in response and opposition to the concentration of power and resources in the hands of a few - mostly the federal government and local elites in their pay. A lack of trust in government, and in elders and chiefs too, has meant that often small, uncoordinated and inward-looking movements have arisen, including youth-based militias who have seized the political opportunity for a more violent campaign of extraction and intimidation on the back of such discontent. In all cases, a longer term historical perspective on changing political conditions and opportunities (cf. Tilley 1978) has been essential in understanding the conditions - and particular moments - when solidarities emerge and mobilisations occur.

2.2 Theories of framing

Second, theories of framing (Benford and Snow 2000) emphasise how mobilisation takes shape around and actively involves the construction of, particular ideas, meanings and cognitive and moral constructions of a 'problem'. This may involve selecting from an available repertoire of concepts, explanatory schemes, or arguments in ways that fit the moment, perhaps reframing or redefining these. Mobilisation thus involves struggles not just to promote a given social or political agenda, but to establish and promote certain meanings and problem-definitions as legitimate as against those who would dispute them.⁵ Theories of framing echo some of the concerns of civic republican perspectives on citizenship. These recognise a diversity of interests within society and assume that citizens will form factional groups around these. Citizenship is thus related to a common civic identity based on common public culture, emergent from a deliberation around alternative framings (e.g. Habermas 1984, 1996). Whereas in Habermasian versions of civic republicanism collective agreements based on a notion of the common good are seen to emerge out of rational debate, our cases on mobilisation suggest that this is often not the case, and that mobilisation processes often involve protracted clashes between alternative framings which do not reach straightforward resolution.

For example in the case of the MMR vaccine in the UK, parents mobilised around their view that this had triggered a series of symptoms in their children, framing the problem in terms of individual vulnerability to vaccines and demands for treatment and further investigation of these specific causes. They met a counter-mobilisation from government and scientific communities concerned with maintaining population-level vaccination programmes who framed the issue guite differently in terms of whether or not a link between MMR and autism could be determined at a population level. These two framings spoke past each other, leading to polarisation and non-resolution of the controversy. In the case of debates around GM crops in the developing world, a similar polarisation of framings is evident between state, corporate and scientific communities who frame GM safety issues in terms of narrow technical questions of risk and networks of activists who highlight the broader issues of social and political control in a vision of agricultural futures dominated by multinational corporations. In both these cases, framings emerge from deeper moral and political commitments which shape the nature of mobilisation.

2.3 Theories of movement identity

Third, the identity-related aspects of social movements have been emphasised, especially as interest in 'old' social movements assumed to be class-based has given way to interest in 'new' social movements constituted around symbolic, informational and cultural struggles, and rights to specificity *vis-à-vis* dominant state and market forms (Evers 1985; Melucci 1989; see also Habermas 1996). Rather than assume shared identities amongst movement participants, recent approaches examine the sources and processes through which common identities are formed, and perhaps dissolved and reformed, through movement processes. Castells (1997) argues that 'in a world of global flows of wealth, power, and images, the search for identity, collective or individual, ascribed or constructed, becomes the fundamental source of social meaning'. Included here is attention to micro-contexts of common experience and to everyday move-

⁵ Tarrow (1998) and McAdam, Tarrow and Tilly (2001), for example, usefully integrate framing with resource mobilisation and political process approaches in analysing social mobilisation. See also Crossley (2002).

ment practices and contexts for micro-mobilisation (Snow *et al.* 1986; McAdam 1988) in holding movement participants together, even if temporarily (e.g. Laclau and Mouffe 1985).

This suggests a perspective on citizenship centred on difference and identity. Many feminists and others associate citizenship with group identities based on specific forms and experiences of difference – such as those linked to gender, race, disability, locality and so on (Young 1989, 1990) – through a 'politics of presence' (Phillips 1993, 1995). A number of post-structuralist theorists argue that people have a multiplicity of overlapping subject positions, each more or less contingent. Group political identity is produced through identification with others who hold particular subject positions in common. Citizen action thus draws upon particular political identities at particular moments (Laclau and Mouffe 1985; Mouffe 1992, 1995). This gives rise to a fragmented and contingent notion of citizenship as realised in the enactment of political action or mobilisation (Ellison 1997). Furthermore, rather than being directed at a singular notion of the state, such action may be directed towards more diverse and dispersed sites and spaces.

For example, in the case of mobilisation around asbestos related diseases in South Africa, Griqua activists were united by their common experiences as 'victims' of mining activities, but mobilisation also interplayed with the complexity of Griqua identity and its links with the politics of race, place and gender. In the case of activism around antiretroviral treatment in South Africa, movement activists were united by a common experience of personal transformation from 'near death to new life' through HIV/AIDS treatment. Mobilisation also built on more deeply rooted forms of identity linked to the struggle against apartheid. In the delta region of Nigeria, disaffected youth formed militia in the struggle against state and corporate control over oil resources. However such groups used their power for personal or group enrichment, rather than focusing on the broader welfare of the delta peoples as their rhetoric claimed. Such limited, militarised social solidarities are borne out of a highly fragmented, divided and dysfunctional society, where unemployed youth based in towns and rural centres see no option but to focus on what Ellison (1997: 715) describes as more 'fundamentalist solidarities' based on 'non-reflexive forms of interest based action'.

In these cases, then, processes of identification are operating at multiple levels, both through immediate contexts of interaction and shared experience and through more historically sedimented forms of solidarity and group identity. It is the interaction of these that serves to give mobilisation its strength and impetus.

2.4 Theories of space, place and network

A fourth dimension in the study of social movements acknowledges their embeddedness in space and place. Geographers, especially, have argued that social movements flow out of the interplay of space, power, framings and resources, with an understanding of spatial location and context critical to seeing why the political processes of social movements unfold as they do (Miller 2000). The spatial context of contemporary mobilisations is frequently wide and diffuse, involving multi-layered forms of networking and alliance (Edelman 2001; Appadurai 2000) and 'discourse coalitions' between differently-framed agendas (Hajer 1995). Such movements may link participants in diverse local sites across global spaces, constituting forms of 'globalisation from below' (Falk 1993; Appadurai 2002). This contrasts with the more conventional focus of social movement theory on single organisations with a single, shared agenda. Indeed some theorists discount such forms of mobilisation as 'movements' at all, preferring to label them coalitions or networks (Fox 2000). New information technologies and media networks have been critical in enabling these forms of connection between spatially dispersed movement participants (Castells 1997).

In the cases of global mobilisations around large dams, GM crops and antiretroviral treatment availability, an ostensibly global movement network is made up of a multiplicity of more localised movements which have emerged in specific contexts, and around more located concerns. Yet these add up to more than the sum of their parts: local mobilisation is able to draw aspects of framing, legitimacy and authority from the global, while the global can claim authenticity through its appeal to local embeddedness. This raises tensions and forms of ambiguity which are perhaps less evident in more singular local movements which were the inspiration for much social movement theory.

Others have advanced the notion of social movements as a necessary return to the local in a context of proliferating global initiatives and forms of development. Thus mobilisations are a focus for the articulation of local problem framings, needs and priorities, which emphasise the need to replace global knowledge and action with local thinking. Thus, Esteva and Prakash (1997: 47) argue:

Countless cases give ample proof that local peoples often need outside allies to create a critical mass of political opposition capable of stopping those forces. But the solidarity of coalitions and alliances does not call for 'thinking globally'. In fact, what is needed is exactly the opposite: people thinking and acting locally, while forging solidarity with other local forces that share this opposition to the 'global thinking' and 'global forces' threatening local spaces.

The case of the Zapatista movement in Chiapas, Mexico is often referred to in this regard. Here a locally grounded movement – focusing on indigenous cultural, political and social rights, particularly around land – has emerged as a strong, armed force for local self-determination in the region. This has led to the creation of autonomous municipalities and councils, and pressure on state level legislation. The case of opposition to the Montes Azules biosphere reserve is illustrative of this local struggle for rights being pitted against a more globally conceived notion of biosphere protection.

What some have termed 'post-development' theorists construct in different ways a concept of local mobilisation and resistance to the entire development project (e.g. Escobar 1992, 1995; Ferguson 1990; Leys 1996; de Sousa Santos

1995; Crush 1995; Esteva 1992), very often reifying the power, potential and indigeneity of the local. But they also recognise that local movements can forge solidarity with each other, in alliances that transcend a simply local movement base. Whether such linked networks of local mobilisations add up to a 'global civil society' (Edwards 1999; Edwards and Gaventa 2001) remains a subject of intense debate, a theme picked up later in this paper.

Such perspectives on mobilisation highlight the relevance of communitarian perspectives on citizenship, centred on the citizen as a member of a socially and spatially embedded community (Sandal 1998; Smith 1998). In communitarian thought, the emphasis is on the pursuit of local agendas, with the state appearing more distantly if at all. While some traditions of communitarian thought have focused on the local, a communitarian perspective also helps comprehend manifestations of what might be seen as 'global' citizenship, where local expressions of communitarianism incorporate global imaginations, captured in the expression 'think global, act local'.

2.5 Towards an integrative perspective

While we have drawn here on particular case study examples to illustrate different theories of mobilisation (and their resonances in citizenship theory), in each of the empirical cases it is a combination of all four theoretical perspectives that is necessary to understand the mobilisation processes at work. Such an integrated perspective on mobilisation in turn suggests a more integrated perspective on citizenship: one that understands socially and spatially located nature of the 'mobilising citizen', engaged in a dynamic, networked political interactions, drawing on a variety of resources, becoming part of shifting forms of social solidarity and identification. In a world increasingly influenced by the dispersing and fragmented effects of globalisation, there is a need to go beyond either state-centred or pluralist accounts of citizenship. People have, as we have seen from the cases, multiple memberships of different groupings, both in institutional and cultural terms. Such a multiplication of identities, affiliations and forms of solidarity, Ellison (1997) argues requires the dissolving of more conventional boundaries between the public and private, the political and social, and the situating of citizenship at least in part outside the standard political realm. This integrative vision of citizenship certainly resonates most effectively with the empirical realities described in the case studies. It in turn has important implications for how movements and mobilisations are seen. Thus as Ellison (1997: 712) comments:

'Citizenship' no longer conveys a universalist sense of inclusion or participation in a stable political community; neither does it suggest the possibility of developing claims organised around a relatively stable set of differences; nor, for that matter, can the term be made to conform easily to the living out of a series of socially constructed identity positions on the decentred social subjects. Instead, we are left with a restless desire for social engagement, citizenship becoming a form of social and political practice borne of the need to establish new solidarities across a range of putative 'communities' as a defence against social changes which continually threaten to frustrate such ambitions.

Following earlier work (Leach and Scoones 2005; Nyamu-Musembi 2002), citizenship is thus redefined in more actor-oriented and performative terms, in effect, as *practised engagement through emergent social solidarities*. Such a perspective on citizenship which was earlier seen as necessary to understand citizen participation in more orchestrated arenas and invited spaces, becomes even more relevant when considering diverse mobilisation processes. These forms of engagement, involving new processes of social and political mobilisation, are, as Ellison emphasises, likely to be 'increasingly messy and unstable' (1997: 712). Reflecting on the array of cases, an initial impression is indeed one of messiness and instability. However, across the cases three key themes emerge. We now go on to explore these.

3 Emergent themes in contemporary mobilisation

While the cases have engaged with the more conventional elements of social movement theory, as discussed above, a number of emergent cross-cutting themes are striking. These in turn require extending the scope of literature on social movements and citizenship in several directions. Here we suggest how incorporating perspectives from constructivist science and technology studies enhance our understanding of the theme of knowledge, power and mobilisation. In the same way, anthropological literatures on practice, ritual and resistance enrich our understanding of movement cultures, styles and practices. And, finally, a focus on spaces for mobilisation today requires attention, for example, to studies of legal and media processes.

3.1 Knowledge, power and mobilisation

In all the cases, contests over knowledge were central to how the dynamics of mobilisation unfolded. Epstein (1996: 6) argues that:

Increasingly, science is the resource called on to promote consensus, and experts are brought in to 'settle' political and social controversies. Yet this 'scientization of politics' simultaneously brings about a 'politicization of science' ... political disputes tend to become technical disputes.

He goes on to argue that 'Few studies ... have explored the role of movements in the construction of credible knowledge, and few sociologists of scientific knowledge have engaged significantly with the sociological literature on social movements' (1996: 19).⁶

From the cases, we can see this tendency for social and political disputes to become technical disputes, and for conflicts around resources to be expressed in terms of conflicts around knowledge. For example in the disputes over water access described for the southern Veracruz watershed Mexico, urban-based government authorities have continued to define the problem in technical terms, offering short-term palliatives based on offering limited water rationing - together with some social and educational programmes - to the disaffected rural communities. But this did not tackle the root causes of the conflicts which were more fundamental and about basic rights for marginalised indigenous communities. Thus a 20 year pattern of conflict-negotiation-conflict has emerged, without substantive change, as the fora and formats for effective negotiation and deliberation were until recently unavailable. In other cases, mobilisation was, from the outset, about the terms of scientific debate and the ways in which risk and safety were constructed, whether in relation to vaccines, GM crops, or mining occupations. These mobilisations were about broader social and political issues and claims; yet as the dynamics unfolded, it was in the technical arena where contests became most acute – framed by the institutionalised practices of courts, regulatory procedures and scientific trials.

Epstein (1996) proposes four possible ways in which social movements might engage with science: (a) disputing scientific claims; (b) seeking to acquire a cachet of scientific authority for a political claim by finding a scientific expert to validate their political stance; (c) rejecting the scientific way of knowing and advancing their claims to expertise from some wholly different epistemological standpoint, and (d) attempting to 'stake out some ground on the scientists' own terrain' by questioning 'not just the uses of science, not just the control over science, but sometimes even the very contents of science and the processes by which it is produced' (Epstein 1996: 12-13). The cases offer examples of each of these. Thus parental mobilisation around MMR did not just dispute scientific claims that there was no link between MMR and autism, but exposed the biases in the science producing claims of MMR safety, arguing that this was linked with political interests in mass-vaccination and commercial interests in selling vaccines. Parents contested mainstream epidemiological science through their own observations of MMR-caused disease in their children, forming alliances with supportive scientists who took a clinical perspective. In the case of mobilisation around GM crops, activists used all these forms of engagement, deploying them strategically depending on the setting. Whereas in the courts, they disputed scientific claims about GM safety, in the media they tended to reject scientific arguments about risk altogether in favour of a wider debate about corporate control, globalisation and livelihood futures. In the case of occupational health in India, activists have staked out ground on the scientists' own terrain by conducting diagnostic tests and health assessments in attempts to hold corporations to account. TAC's mobilisation around HIV/AIDS in South Africa was in part a response to Mbeki and the 'AIDS dissidents' attempt to

⁶ Exceptional studies which have made these links include Petersen and Markle (1981), and, more recently, Jamison (2001).

acquire a cachet of scientific authority for their political claim that there was no viral cause of AIDS. At this time, the leadership of TAC drew on mainstream understandings of virology and disease causation to argue for investment in anti-retroviral treatments, vehemently rejecting any other more interpretative stance. However, at the same time, the wider TAC membership, who are experiencing both illness and treatment, often make sense of their condition by drawing on narratives that are simultaneously about science, religion and asserting rights (Robins 2005c).

Diverse forms of expertise at therefore at work in any mobilisation process, often simultaneously. In some cases, mobilisations draw on lay knowledge and forms of 'experiential expertise' (Collins and Evans 2002) that people have acquired in everyday life. For instance, cultural understandings of bodily and disease processes shaped movements around asbestosis in South Africa and occupational health in India; parental observation and experience of child health was central to mobilisation around the MMR vaccine in the UK; lay experiences of the dynamics of water resources and livelihoods influenced mobilisation around large dams in India; experiences of complex local agro-ecologies shaped opposition to GM crops; local knowledge and experiences around plant uses and biodiversity shaped opposition to bio-prospecting in Mexico, and local knowledge of the livelihood and pollution impacts of oil-shaped citizen mobilisation in Nigeria. In some cases, such experiential expertise became recast as 'citizen science' (Irwin 1995; Fischer 2000), in which people actively worked to produce new knowledge according with their own experiences.⁷ Thus in India, NGOs have provided communities water testing kits to challenge the Pollution Control Board's own monitoring data. Activists have also facilitated community surveys of malaria incidence, and related this to the extent of stagnant water arising from industrial operations in the area. Such community-derived evidence has been compiled and presented as part of 'People's Development Plans' which are presented to local assemblies and government officials. Housing activists in Nairobi, Kenya also invested in their own data collection around land grabbing, documenting who was taking land and how much. Such data was unavailable to formal government commissions investigating the issue, who failed to uncover the extent of the problem because of the influential political interests involved. In the UK, MMR mobilisation, websites were used to survey and collate parental observations to build up a 'scientific' picture of MMR triggers for disease.

In many cases, citizens have enrolled accredited scientific experts sympathetic to their perspectives, forming alliances that give their claims greater strength and legitimacy (*cf.* Nelkin 1987; Hoffman 1989). Through these alliances, certain citizens may themselves learn new forms of scientific expertise: what Epstein

⁷ In this respect, there are strong similarities with Epstein's (1996) account of AIDS activism in the United States, as well as with cases of popular epidemiology and patient/victim mobilisation around issues of environmental and health risk (e.g. Brown 1992; Petryna 2002; Di Chiro 1992).

terms the 'expertification of lay activists'. At the same time, accredited experts confront their institutionalised and professional knowledge, reclaiming their role as citizens. Through these processes, boundaries between citizen and expert become much more fluid, and hybrids emerge. In some cases, activists themselves embody hybrid identities. Thus environmental activists in Brazil have complex career trajectories which have moved between practising science and engaging in activism, sometimes separately and sometimes together.

Clashes over knowledge are therefore central to mobilisation dynamics. However, the cases show how the oppositions involved rarely conform to simple views of 'science versus people' or 'experts versus indigenous/lay knowledge'. Instead, differently-constructed discourses and 'discourse coalitions' (Hajer 1995) emerge. Thus in mobilisation around water, the key opposition is more between proponents of large dams (embracing particular types of engineer, large scale commercial agricultural interests, and urban consumers), and proponents of small-scale water interventions (including other hydrologists and engineers, small farmers and dam oustees). In mobilisation around MMR, the key opposition is less between 'parents' and 'scientists', than between clinical perspectives (uniting parents who believe their children vaccine-damaged with certain clinical scientists) and epidemiological perspectives (shared by other – epidemiological – scientists, public health policy-makers, and pharmaceutical companies).

Positions and perspectives also shift over time as debates unfold. For example in South Africa, the TAC leadership stuck firmly to a biomedical model and for a particular form of treatment access when mobilising against the government. However, following the success in the 2001 Constitutional court case, the deployment of expertise shifted. As Steve Robins puts it: 'Now that treatment is available, TAC and its scientist allies are able to acknowledge that things are far more complicated. The political terrain has shifted with the implementation of the national ARV programme and the defeat of the AIDS dissidents. It is now possible to provide a more "balanced picture" and acknowledge the limits and vulnerabilities of ARVs and other AIDS interventions'.⁸ As this case and others show, different forms of knowledge alliance are fundamentally linked to different and changing social and political interests, and interact with each other in highly politicised and power-laden processes.

Whatever the outcomes of such processes – whether or not citizens successfully press knowledge claims from which flow further material and political claims – such processes can lead to broader transformations in the ways issues are understood and debated in public culture. As Jamison suggests:

Out of the alternative public spaces that have been created by social and political movements has emerged a new kind of scientific pluralism, in terms of organisation, worldview assumptions, and technical application (2001: 136).

⁸ Steve Robins, pers. comm., review comments, November 2005.

Following Epstein (1996, note 121, p373), then, we argue for productive engagement between social movement theory and science studies. This has been important in analysing the case studies, which have drawn out hitherto unexplored affinities between the conceptions of framing, resource mobilisation, and collective identity formation that have been developed in the study of social movements, and parallel concepts in science studies. Thus constructive perspectives which draw connections between scientific perspectives and their underlying social, political and institutional commitments helpfully extend social movement theory's perspectives on framing and identity (Franklin 1995; Wynne 1992; Jasanoff 2005). Insights from work in science studies on science-in-action and actor-network theory (e.g. Latour 1987, 1999) help illuminate the practices of science-related mobilisation; how both movement actors and their opponents create, consolidate and extend their claims by enrolling other actors and institutions into knowledge/power networks, and how particular events and fora shape the co-production of scientific and social, political or policy positions (Jasanoff and Wynne 1997).

With knowledge and struggles over information so central to contemporary mobilisation, we see from the cases how a deeper conceptualisation of the relationships between knowledge and power in mobilisation contexts requires us to put knowledge centre-stage as part of an understanding of resource mobilisation and political process, movement framing, identity, and – as Melucci (1996) emphasises – the holding-together of networks and solidarities, even as these stretch across globally-interconnected spaces.

3.2 Cultures, styles and practices of mobilisation

The cases show a wide range of styles and practices of activism, associated with different micro-mobilisation contexts, both between mobilisations and even within particular movements themselves. Many of the movements discussed in the case studies have longer histories than the immediate mobilisations looked at. They may draw upon experiences of activists around other issues, bringing in particular ways of working and forms of protest that resonate with other periods or actions. For example, many activists involved in the emergence of the Brazilian environmental movement or the health councils in the north-east of the country had long associations with the wider democracy movement and struggles against the dictatorship. In South Africa, TAC activists brought in the imagery, songs and dances that had been part of their earlier experiences in the struggle against apartheid.

Contemporary movement activities thus often extend a performative repertoire, situated within a wider 'habitus' (cf. Bourdieu 1977), which became institutionalised earlier. Yet the cases also make it clear that novel repertoires may be created to provide new idioms for motivating activism or holding together collective identity. Thus in the South African case the notion of almost ritualised transformation of a person from 'near death to new life' which comes about through anti-retroviral therapies has come to unite and motivate activists in arguing for expanded treatment availability. Not all movement participants, however, have this common, intense shared experience. Sometimes movements involve a diverse group, with different social backgrounds, educational profiles, and personal life histories. Thus for example, tenants' associations in Nairobi, Kenya include a core group of activists who are relatively homogenous in socio-economic terms, but have diverse ethnic and political connections. These differences have been accommodated, and sometimes used to good effect, in the umbrella movement organisation. However, outside the core grouping, others have been involved at particular periods only, becoming mobilised around certain crises or in response to particular attempts at relocation or land grabbing. As the cases show, the pattern of diversity, and its key axes, in movement participants clearly shape different interests in pursuing a particular cause. These may create tensions, but mean that the performative and ritualised moments of commonality - in protests, demonstrations, fasts, court cases - are all the more significant. Thus the antidam movement in India draws people from all walks of life to its high profile events and protests, including well known individuals on the international activist circuit. Where movements are made up of socially diverse participants, the roles and charisma of individual leaders in holding them together, or at least presenting a public face of a united movement, also become more significant.

Across the cases a wide diversity of mobilisation tactics has been pursued. Direct actions – including damage to property – have been a tactic of some. Thus for example, in Mexico several thousand indigenous people, armed with bows, arrows and machetes, closed the valves of the dam, cutting off water to the cities for several days. Direct action against oil companies in Nigeria has targeted pipelines, sometimes with violent consequences. Alongside overt, extravagant performances through protest, direct actions and engagements with the courts or media, movements may engage in more everyday resistances, deploying the 'weapons of the weak' (Scott 1985). Thus for example in the UK MMR case, parents engaged in strategies of non-compliance, refusing to respond to questionnaires about their children's condition or not attending appointments. In Bangladesh, the most common form of protest for women is to resist the demands of exploitative employers or simply to leave the job.

Acknowledging this diversity of resistances raises questions about the different degrees of engagement with a 'movement'. Some may not be aware they are part of a movement at all, but their practices – for example as a parent who does not take their child for MMR vaccination because they have been worried by reports in the press – serve to contribute to movement goals. Others, such as the large majority of tenants in Nairobi, may only 'join up' at key moments, being preoccupied with other issues at other times. In Bangladesh, only 1 per cent of women garment workers are signed up to a union outside the export zone areas, and are rarely engaged in collective action, beyond a few NGOs focusing labour rights with limited capacity and reach. And this despite a high-profile global campaign being waged on their behalf by a loose international coalition of trade unions, students, NGOs, living wage activists and consumers. Such cases draw attention to the relationship between movement cores and their wider social fields, and how movements gain legitimacy and popular

support for their actions (Edelman 2001). A number of the cases highlight the widening of social fields, linked to rise of trans-national activism, but also the dangers of fragmentation and disconnection that arise when local struggles are connected and extended into global arenas.

3.3 Spaces for mobilisation

A final theme from the cases, then, highlights this dynamic, sometimes fraught, connection between a multiplicity of spaces in contemporary mobilisations. Spaces for mobilisation range from the formal to the informal, from the spontaneous to the invited, from the popular to the top-down, and from the permanent to the transient (Cornwall and Schattan P. Coelho 2004). The cases emphasise again and again that it is the connection between spaces that is important in understanding processes of mobilisation, and the evolution of struggles over time. Thus for example in India, activist NGOs concerned with corporate accountability have engaged in multi-pronged strategies in all examples looked at, involving local awareness raising, media interventions, public interest litigation, engagement with government authorities - from the state Pollution Control Board, to local village assemblies, direct dialogue with companies and public hearings. As the Kenya case highlighted timing is key. In the mid-90s, public protests against land grabbing highlighted the plight of tenants with insecure tenure; in 1997 a high-profile media campaign thwarted the council's secret plans to relocate tenants and in 2000 tenants, having collected detailed information, presented a case before a presidential commission with a proposal for legal reform. The health council in Cabo in Pernambuco state, Brazil – a more formalised intermediary space – emerged from a much longer struggle of health activists involved in movement organisations from the 1980s. The council was thus shaped by these longer experiences, and became possible because of a combination of events in 1997 when a progressive government was returned in the state, and an energetic, radical reformer – with links to earlier movement struggles - became secretary for health. Understanding mobilisations therefore requires attention to the contingent interaction of spaces and places, people and networks, and events and moments. The uncertain, non-linear, dynamic nature of mobilisation is emphasised across the case studies, making simple structural explanations inadequate.

Whereas a dominant strand of social movement theory has focused on more conventional forms of protest in spaces established through face-to-face encounters, sit-ins, court cases, marches and demonstrations, contemporary mobilisations often link these spaces with more diffuse communication processes over multiple locales, including the use of both conventional mass-media and new information and communication technologies. Thus GM activism in Brazil, India and South Africa combined, at different times and by different groups, direct action against field trials, supermarket trolley dumping, protests outside facilities and research institutes, constitutional and public interest litigation cases, media campaigns on TV, newspapers and radio, internet-linked networks and resource materials, and e-mail protests. Activism against large dams has linked marches and demonstrations with astute media interventions, multiple court cases and engagements in international deliberations on dams, complemented by e-mail networking and website publicity and connections. TAC activists in South Africa began in the locales of black townships, making use of local political forums, but then extended their movement into global spaces through forging connections around anti-patent law struggles in the spaces of international conferences, benefit concerts, media and internet debate. Through the development of such networks TAC has thus enlisted a wider and influential grouping, ranging from Nelson Mandela, Bono and Bill and Melissa Gates.

While mobilisations make use of – and in the process link – such diverse spaces, they also take on different characters within them. Across the cases, recurrent themes were the use of legal spaces on the one hand, and media (including cyber) spaces on the other. Here, we consider the ways in which mobilisations in the cases made use of these types of space and how this reflected different politics of knowledge and different forms of culture, style and practice.

In several of the cases, law became a site of politics in which courts acted as mediators. Paradoxically, movement participants sometimes see legal arenas as spaces where their concerns can be heard and deliberated in a neutral, objective manner, in contrast to what are perceived to be more politicised arenas elsewhere. Yet the cases illustrate how science and knowledge became tools in legal spaces, with the law constructing types of science which are either accepted as 'evidence' or labelled as 'biased'. This illustrates the argument made in social and anthropological studies of law that law is not necessarily the neutral arbiter that it is sometimes made out to be (Falk-Moore 1978; Mertz 1994). Cases also illustrate arguments from science studies that 'science' and 'knowledge' come to be constructed (and legitimised and delegitimised) in particular ways when put to work as legal evidence (Jasanoff 1997). Thus parents' proposed class action against vaccine manufacturers over MMR damage was ruled out at the pre-litigation stage because lawyers acting for the legal services commission which funded the parents' case ruled that their scientific evidence was too weak and biased to stand up in court. In the case of asbestosis in South Africa, controversy over interpretations of medical evidence saw many people have their claims 'medically downgraded', and receive less compensation money as a result.

Nor are legal spaces singular. Different routes of legal redress are available and across the cases have been exploited strategically by activists in a process of 'forum shopping' (Benda-Beckman 1981), highlighting the pluralistic nature of the legal system (Merry 1998, 1992). In making use of different legal spaces, activists may frame movement concerns in different ways – and this can in turn lead to debate within movements themselves. In the case of the campaign for anti-retroviral treatment in South Africa, activists operated across multiple legal jurisdictions, engaging both at the international level around patent provisions and at the national level. Different types of court at a national level also offer different types of opportunity for legal argument, with constitutional courts – for example in the GM case – offering some opportunity to elaborate oppositions in terms of rights, justice and broader livelihoods, with other courts and

the public interest litigation route being more specifically focused on legallyspecified procedures and regulations, thus constraining the scope of claims that can be made.

Putting forward a court case is no minor task. Small activist organisations often have to link up with others to do so, while links between more diverse individualised claims may be strengthened through putting together a class action. The forms of coordinated action involved in turn shape the collective nature of movement identity in particular ways. Thus, for example, in the case of TAC in South Africa, engagement in court cases around patents drew the South Africa based treatment movement into a wider collective identity associated with the anti-globalisation movement. Legal action also requires high levels of resource mobilisation, not just of funds but of expertise including legal expertise and scientific 'expert witnesses'. Thus seeking legal redress requires movements to extend their networks, enlisting specialist expertise in mobilisations, often with attendant tensions.

Litigation efforts may, as Wendy Brown (1995) argues, have a tendency towards individualising and depoliticising, but the court can also be a site for other forms of activist mobilisation. The court room drama – or even its prospect – can be created as an event which may occasion high-profile demonstrations and stunts outside the court room, bringing associated media coverage. Thus for example in Brazil the frequent court cases around the GM issue always provided an opportunity for Greenpeace or other activists to stage performative protests, ranging from unfurling banners on buildings to dressing-up in biosecurity suits. In the UK, the calling-off of the parental class action against the manufacturers of MMR was itself sufficient to trigger major media commentary, which parent-activists and sympathetic journalists were able to use to publicise other dimensions of their struggle.

As these examples make clear, while legal spaces may be effective routes for movements to pursue certain types of rights, as specified in (national or international) law, or to hold governments or companies to account in relation to particular statutes and regulations, they are only one, insufficient element in the broader struggles for justice, including cognitive justice (Visvanathan 2005) that mobilisations are seeking. Today, the mass-media and new information technologies provide another important set of spaces.

The use of mass-media was important across all the cases. Access to broader public debate through the media was essential for all movements, making use of mass-media's great potential as a site for contestation (Spitulnik 1993). However engagements with the media, as activists recounted in interviews during the case studies, presented a number of challenges. As many media studies commentators have pointed out, the genre and style of media coverage tends to construct a particular kind of storyline: David vs. Goliath, goodies vs. baddies, and so on (Lowe and Morrison 1984; Hargreaves *et al.* 2002). Social movement stories are often easily presented in this mould, making them appealing subjects for media coverage. Activists can often gain access to such coverage despite their small size and limited budgets by the desire of the media to present 'two

sides of the story' or 'a balanced picture' – for instance to counter dominant state or corporate interests. In the process of turning mobilisations into media storylines, subtleties of their framings are often lost. The science and knowledge claims involved may also be reconstructed – as several commentators on the MMR debate argued, for instance, media coverage gave the impression that scientific evidence was weighted 50:50 between the parental and government sides of the debate (Science Media Centre 2002, Hargreaves *et al.* 2002). This entirely missed the point that the types of evidence each side was using were differently-framed and in effect non-comparable.

The cases highlight that there are multiple forms of media which offer different spaces with different implications for movement access and framing. In all the case study countries there is notionally a free press, yet this comes in many shapes and forms. Thus in some outlets, advertising revenues might be jeopardised by anti-corporate perspectives, making certain activist approaches unattractive. Some media outlets have long-established affinities with particular political interests or parties, shaping their receptivity to particular mobilisations. Some newspapers have had sympathetic journalists who take up a particular activist cause and may publicise it over several years, through a combination of headlines and detailed features - as in the UK Daily Mail's strong coverage of the parental movement around MMR in the UK. In such cases, journalists become, in effect, enrolled as movement activists. There are also important distinctions between the spaces offered by national media outlets, and local ones, such as local and vernacular language newspapers, and community radio stations. In the latter, movement storylines and framings may be constructed differently to appeal to locally-relevant concerns. The use of different media spaces by activists is, in some respects, akin to forum shopping in plural legal spaces. This also enables appeal to different audiences who might lend popular support to a movement as part of its wider social field. Yet while messages may be presented differently in different media outlets, there is often what postmodern media studies refer to as 'intertextuality' at work - when images appear in different media and create meaning across them, or one media presentation promotes another (Fiske 1987; Taylor and Willis 1999: 82) - with such intertextuality contributing to movement strength.

Increasingly, media networks are based on internet connections through websites, e-mail lists, blogs and so on. The degree to which the mobilisations in the case studies made use of the internet is varied, depending not least degrees of internet access and connectivity. Thus the internet was more important for local mobilisation in the UK than in South Africa or rural Nigeria, but even these cases activist leaders used internet networks to forge links with movements elsewhere. These cyber spaces provide many resources for mobilisation, enabling movement participants to have rapid access to information and connection with each other without the need for face-to-face encounters. This has implications for movement identity, which may become broader, more diverse and inclusive – but less cohesive. Thus, Baumann (1999: 130) argues that 'cyberspace, the site of postmodern intellectual practice, feeds on fragmentation and promotes fragmentation', thus not producing the kind of social solidarities capable of producing a collective political vision capable of changing the world. However, in the cases discussed here, cyberpolitics was one element of a diverse set of movement engagements, with internet networking being one layer in a more complex whole. Moreover as Miller and Slater (2000) emphasise, people access the internet from located sites in which culture and history shape styles of use – suggesting that internet practices need to be seen as part of micro-mobilisation contexts.

The politics of knowledge also become mediated in different ways through cyberspace, for instance as movement participants gain direct access to scientific research papers posted on movement websites or sent out to e-mail lists. However, such access is not unmediated: just as Monsanto and its regionally-based outposts have their own websites with links to news articles and scientific papers on the benefits of GM crops, so do global anti-GM campaigners, linking to different articles that stress the risks. Perhaps the most novel dimensions of the spaces opened up through the internet are the ways in which they connect local and global sites and forms of knowledge, both giving localised movements access to global debates and information sources, and global campaigns, sources of local experience and forms of legitimacy. Cyberspace also enables localised mobilisations to connect with each other, sometimes resulting in a sharing of styles and practices of activism, as well as a sharing of framings. Such 'globalisation from below' (Falk 1993) can contribute to the strength and claims of local movements, although it can also reduce the specificity of localised citizens' concerns in favour of appeals to a global civil society. The most effective mobilisations have been those that have moved strategically between these different spaces, adjusting framing and styles accordingly.

4 Conclusion

The case studies we have brought together in this paper have crossed northern and southern settings, and many link locales across the globe. Cases have included mobilisations that have emerged among the poor, as well as those more associated with middle class concerns. This diversity of case settings emphasises the need to broaden debates about social movements, encompassing different literatures – from science studies to the anthropology of ritual and practice to geographies of space and place. As the sections above have highlighted, contemporary processes of mobilisation suggest some important implications for our understanding of citizenship.

The cases highlight an array of forms of citizenship which are brought to bear and enacted through mobilisation processes. In some cases it appears to be communitarian notions of citizenship which are to the fore – for instance where tight forms of collective action emerge around an issue or where geographic communities resists state or corporate action. In some cases, collective solidarities emerge in a more temporary and shifting way, bringing together more diverse groups in coalitions around particular framings of an issue, with particular micro-mobilisation contexts providing important sources of cohesion. These collective solidarities sometimes extend to the global as emergent forms of trans-national activism make claims about global citizenship as resources to link diverse movements across multiple local sites. In some other cases, mobilisation reflects the emergence of 'responsibilised' citizens who join forces to articulate individualised rights and lifestyle choices in relation to the public goods and regulations proposed by state and international systems. This phenomenon, particular evident in the northern settings (as in the case of HIV/AIDS and MMR activism in the UK), is broadly in line with neoliberal ideologies of self-governance which Baumann (1999) suggests as underlying the emergence of many citizens groups around health and lifestyle issues (see also Barry et al. 1996). The individualised values at work here might be seen as rather different from those reflected more collective forms of protest and movement organisation where community, livelihoods and lifestyles are under threat from external sources. Mobilisation processes therefore emerge from and remain strongly shaped by political histories and cultures, as the case studies have shown.

Central to the understanding of any of these forms of citizenship is the politics of knowledge. As we have seen, knowledge politics interplay with the politics of struggle around material resources, and socio-political claims. They are central to movement framing, to resource mobilisation and the use of different spaces, and to the creation and sustenance of movement identities. As Sheila Jasanoff argues:

Contemporary societies are constituted as *knowledge* societies ... important aspects of political behaviour and action cluster around the ways in which knowledge is generated, disputed, and used to underwrite collective decisions. It is no longer possible to deal with such staple concepts of democratic theory as citizenship or deliberation or accountability without delving into their interaction with the dynamics of knowledge creation and use (2005: 6).

Critical to this extension of democratic theory, this paper argues, is a more comprehensive consideration of the politics of knowledge in mobilisation and social movement theory. This appreciation of knowledge-politics needs to go hand-in-hand with the notions of citizen agency which have underlain both recent developments in social movement theory, and in theories of citizenship (Nyamu-Musembi 2002). The result is a notion of mobilising citizens as creative, knowledgeable actors engaged in political processes, which involve contestations between knowledge claims linked respectively to particular political and social commitments and cultures. In short, we argue, contentious politics today is more often than not the politics of knowledge.

References

Abah, O.S. and Okwori, J.Z. (2006) 'Oil and Accountability Issues in the Niger Delta', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds) *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability,* London: Zed Press

Alonso, A., Costa, V. and Maciel, D. (2006) The Formation of the Brazilian Environmental Movement, IDS Working Paper 259, Brighton: IDS

Appadurai, A. (2002) 'Deep Democracy: Urban Governmentality and the Horizon of Politics', *Public Culture* 14: 21–47

—— (2000) 'Grassroots Globalisation and the Research Imagination', *Public Culture* 12: 1–19

Barry, A., Osborne, T. and Rose, N. (1996) (eds) *Foucault and Practical Reason: Liberalism, Neo-liberalism and Rationalities of Government,* Chicago: University of Chicago Press

Baumann, Z. (1999) In Search of Politics, Stanford: Stanford University Press

Benda-Beckman, K. von (1981) 'Forum Shopping and Shopping Forums: Dispute Settlement in a Minankabau Village, West Sumatra', *Journal of Legal Pluralism* 19: 117

Benford, R.D. and Snow, D.A. (2000) 'Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment', *Annual Review of Sociology* 26: 611–39

Bourdieu, P. (1977) *Outline of a Theory of Practice,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Brown, Phil (1992) 'Popular Epidemiology and Toxic Waste Contamination: Lay and Professional Ways of Knowing', *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 33: 267–81

Brown, W. (1995) States of Injury: Power and Freedom in Late Modernity, Princeton: Princeton University Press

Castells, M. (1997) The Power of Identity: The Information Age v. 2, Oxford: Blackwell

Collins, H.M. and Evans, R. (2002) 'The Third Wave of Science Studies: Studies of Expertise and Experience', *Social Studies of Science* 32.2: 235–96

Cornwall, A. and Schattan P. Coelho (eds) (2004) 'New Democratic Spaces?', IDS Bulletin 35.2, Brighton: IDS

Cornwall, A. and Schatten Coelho, V.S. (eds) (2006) Spaces for Change? The Politics of Citizen Participation in New Democratic Arenas, London: Zed Press

Crossley, N. (2002) *Making Sense of Social Movements,* Buckingham: Open University

Crush, J. (1995) 'Introduction: Imagining Development', in J. Crush (ed.) *Power of Development*, London and New York: Routledge: 1–23

de Sousa Santos, B. (1995) *Towards a New Common Sense,* London and New York: Routledge

Della Porta, D. and Diani, M. (1999) Social Movements. An Introduction, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers

Di Chiro, Giovanna (1992) 'Defining Environmental Justice: Women's Voices and Grassroots Politics', *Socialist Review* October–December: 93–130

Edelman, M. (2001) 'Social Movements: Changing Paradigms and Forms of Politics', Annual Review of Anthropology 30: 285–317

Edwards, M. (1999) Future Positive, International Co-operation in the 21st Century, London: Earthscan

Edwards, M. and Gaventa, J. (2001) Citizen Global Action, London: Earthscan

Ellison, N. (1997) 'Towards a New Social Politics: Citizenship and Reflexivity in Late Modernity', *Sociology* 31.4: 697–717

Epstein, S. (1996) *Impure Science: Aids, Activism and the Politics of Knowledge,* Berkeley: University of California Press

Escobar, A. (1996) 'Imagining a Post-development Era', in J. Crush (ed.), *The Power of Development*, London: Routledge: 211–27

----- (1995) Encountering Development, Princeton: Princeton University Press

—— (1992) 'Reflections on "Development": Grassroots Approaches and Alternative Politics in the Third World', *Futures* 24: 411–36

Esteva, G. (1992) 'Development', in W. Sachs (ed.), *The Development Dictionary,* London: Zed Books

Esteva, G. and Prakash, M. (1997) 'From Global Thinking to Local Thinking', in M. Rahnema and V. Bawtree (eds), *The Post-development Reader,* London and New Jersey: Zed Books: 277–89

Evers, T. (1985), 'Identity: The Hidden Side of New Social Movements in Latin America', in D. Slater, *New Social Movements and the State in Latin America*, Dordrecht: CEDLA, Foris Publishers: 43–72

Eyerman, R. and Jamison, A. (1991) Social Movements, Cambridge: Polity

Falk, R. (1993) 'The Making of Global Citizenship', in J.B. Childs, J. Brecher, J. Cutler (eds), *Global Visions: Beyond the New World Order*, Boston: South End

Falk-Moore, S.F. (1978) *Law as Process: An Anthropological Approach,* London: Routledge

Ferguson, J. (1990) The Anti-politics Machine: 'Development', Depoliticisation and Bureaucratic Power in Lesotho, Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press Fischer, F. (2000) Citizens, Experts and the Environment. The Politics of Local Knowledge, Durham and London: Duke University Press

Fiske, J. (1987) Television Culture, London: Methuen

Fox, J.A. (2000) Assessing Binational Civil Society Coalitions: Lessons From the Mexico-US Experience, Working Paper 26, Santa Cruz: Chicano/Latino Research Centre, University of California

Franklin, S. (1995) 'Science as Culture: Cultures of Science', Annual Review of Anthropology 24: 163–84

Fransman, J. and Mirosa-Canal, O. (2004) 'Mapping Social Mobilisation and Activism in a Global Context', literature review prepared for the Science and Citizens Programme of the Citizenship DRC

Habermas, J. (1996) 'Three Normative Models of Democracy', in S. Behnabib (ed.) *Democracy and Difference: Contesting the Boundaries of the Political,* Princeton: Princeton University Press

—— (1984) The Theory of Communicative Action 1: Reason and the Rationalisation of Society, Boston: Beacon Press

—— (1981) 'New Social Movements', Telos 49: 33–7

Hajer, M. (1995) The Politics of Environmental Discourse, Oxford: Clarendon

Hargreaves, I., Lewis, J. and Spears, T. (2002) *Towards a Better Map: Science, the Public and the Media,* Swindon: ESRC

Hickey, S. and Mohan, G. (2005) 'Relocating Participation Within a Radical Politics of Development', *Development and Change* 36.2: 237–62

Hoffman, Lily M. (1989) The Politics of Knowledge: Activist Movements in Medicine and Planning, Albany: State University of New York Press

International Social Movement Research 1: 125–54

Irwin, A. (1995) Citizen Science: A Study of People, Expertise and Sustainable Development, London: Routledge (Environment and Society)

Jamison, A. (2001) 'Science and Social Movements', International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioural Sciences, Elsevier

Jasanoff, S. (2005) Designs on Nature, Princeton: Princeton University Press

—— (1997) Science at the Bar: Law, Science and Technology in America, Twentieth Century Fund, Harvard: Harvard University Press

Jasanoff, S. and Wynne, B. (1997) Handbook of Science and Technology Studies, London: Sage Publications

Laclau, E. and Mouffe, C. (1985) Hegemony and Socialist Strategy: Towards a Radical Democratic Politics, London: Verso

Lahitou, L. (2005) *Latin American Social Movements: Literature Review,* prepared for the Citizenship DRC, Brighton: IDS

Laraña, E., Johnston, H. and Gusfield, J. (1994) New Social Movements. From Ideology to Identity, Philadelphia: Temple University Press

Latour, B. (1999) *Pandora's Hope: Essays on the Reality of Science Studies,* Cambridge and London: Harvard University Press

—— (1987) Science in Action: How to Follow Scientists and Engineers Through Society, Milton Keynes: Open University Press

Leach, M. (2005) *MMR Mobilisation: Citizens and Science in a British Vaccine Controversy, IDS Working Paper 247, Brighton: IDS*

Leach, M. and Scoones, I. (2005) 'Science and Citizenship in a Global Context', in M. Leach, I. Scoones and B. Wynne (eds), *Science and Citizens: Globalisation and the Challenge of Engagement*, London: Zed Press: 15–38

Leys, C. (1996) The Rise and Fall of Development Theory, Oxford: EAEP

Lowe, P. and Morrison, D. (1984) 'Bad News or Goods News: Environmental Politics and the Mass Media', *The Sociological Review* 32.1: 75–90

Mahmud, S. and Kabeer, N. (2006) 'Compliance Versus Accountability: Struggles for Dignity and Daily Bread in the Bangladesh Garment Industry', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds), *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability,* London: Zed Press

Marshall, T. (1950) *Citizenship and Social Class,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

McAdam, D. (1988) 'Micromobilization Contexts and Recruitment to Activism', International Social Movement Research 1: 125–54

—— (1982) Political Process and the Development of Black Insurgency, Chicago: University of Chicago Press

McAdam, D., Tarrow, S. and Tilly, C. (2001) *Dynamics of Contention,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

McCarthy, J.D. and Zald, M.N. (1977) 'Resource Mobilization and Social Movements: A Partial Theory', *American Journal of Sociology* 82.6: 1212–41

Mehta, L. and Thompson, L. (forthcoming) *Contesting Scarcity,* IDS Working Paper, Brighton: IDS

Melucci, A. (1996) Challenging Codes: Collective Action in the Information Age, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

—— (1995) 'The New Social Movements Revisited: Reflections on a Sociological Misunderstanding', in L. Malhue (ed.), *Social Movements and Social Classes: The Future of Collective Action*, London: Sage

(1989) Nomads of the Present: Social Movements and Individual Needs in Contemporary Society, Philadelphia: Temple University Press

Merry, S.E. (1998) 'Legal Pluralism', Law and Society Review 22: 869–96

—— (1992) 'Anthropology, Law and Transnational Processes', Annual Review of Anthropology 21: 357–79

Mertz, E. (1994) 'Legal Language: Pragmatics, Poetics and Social Power', Annual Review of Anthropology 23 (435–55)

Miller, B.A. (2000) Geography and Social Movements: Comparing Anti-Nuclear Activism in the Boston Area, Minnesota: University of Minnesota Press

Miller, D. and Slater, D. (2000) *The Internet: An Ethnographic Approach,* Oxford and New York: Berg

Mouffe, C. (1995) 'Democratic Politics and the Question of Identity', in J. Rajchman (ed.), *The Identity in Question*, New York: Routledge

— (1992) 'Democratic Citizenship and the Political Community', in C. Mouffe (ed.), *Dimensions of Radical Democracy: Pluralism, Citizenship, Community,* London: Verso

Nelkin, Dorothy (1987) 'Controversies and the Authority of Science', in H. Tristram Engelhardt Jr and Arthur L. Caplan (eds), Scientific Controversies: Case Studies in the Resolution and Closure of Disputes in Science and Technology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 283–93

Newell, P. with Anand, V., Arjjumend, H., Jaitli, H., Kumar, S. and Ranga Rao, A.B.S.V. (2006) 'Corporate Accountability and Citizen Action: Cases from India', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds), *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability,* London: Zed Press

Nyamu-Musembi, C. (2006) 'From Protest to Proactive Action: Building Institutional Accountability Through Struggles for the Right to Housing', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds), *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability,* London: Zed Press

—— (2002) Towards an Actor-oriented Approach to Human Rights, IDS Working Paper 169, Brighton: IDS

Oberschall A. (1973) Social Conflict and Social Movements, Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall

Offe, C. (1985) 'New Social Movements: Challenging the Boundaries of Institutional Politics', *Social Research* 52: 817–68

Olsen, M. (1965) The Logic of Collective Action: Public Goods and the Theory of Groups, Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press

Pare, L. and Cortez, C. (2006) 'Conflicting Rights, Environmental Agendas, and the Challenges of Accountability: Social Mobilisation and Protected Natural

Areas in Mexico', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds), *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability*, London: Zed Press

Pare, L. and Robles, C. (2006) 'Managing Watersheds and the Right to Water: Indigenous Communities in Search of Accountability and Inclusion in Southern Veracruz', in P. Newell and J. Wheeler (eds), *Rights, Resources and the Politics of Accountability,* London: Zed Press

Park, Robert (1969 [1921]) 'Collective behavior', in R. Park and E.W. Burgess (eds), *Introduction to the Science of Sociology,* New York: Greenwood Press: 865–78

Petersen, James C. and Markle, Gerald E. (1981) 'Expansion of Conflict in Cancer Controversies', *Research in Social Movements, Conflicts and Change* 4: 151–69

Petryna, A. (2002) *Life Exposed: Biological Citizens after Chernobyl,* Princeton: Princeton University Press

Phillips, A. (1995) The Politics of Presence, Oxford: Oxford University Press

—— (1993) *Democracy and Difference,* Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania State University Press, University Park

Robins, S. (2005a) Rights Passages From 'Near Death' to 'New Life': AIDS Activism and Treatment Testimonies in South Africa, IDS Working Paper 251, Brighton: IDS

—— (2005b) From 'Medical Miracles' to 'Normal(ised) Medicine: Aids Treatment, Activism and Citizenship in the UK and South Africa, IDS Working Paper 252, Brighton: IDS

—— (2005c) 'AIDS, Science and Citizenship After Apartheid', in M. Leach,
I. Scoones and B. Wynne (eds), Science and Citizens: Globalisation and the
Challenge of Engagement, London: Zed Press: 13–30

Sandal, M. (1998) *Liberalism and the Limits of Social Justice,* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Science Media Centre (2002) *MMR: Learning Lessons,* report on the meeting hosted by the Science Media Centre on 2 May 2002

Scoones, I. (2005) Contentious Politics, Contentious Knowledge: Mobilising Against Genetically-modified Crops in India, South Africa and Brazil, IDS Working Paper 256, Brighton: IDS

Scott, Alan (1990) Ideology and the New Social Movements, London: Unwyn Hyman

Scott, J. (1985) Weapons of the Weak: Everyday Forms of Peasant Resistance, New Haven: Yale University Press

Slater (1985) New Social Movements and the State in Latin America, Dordrecht: CEDLA, Foris Publishers Smith, A.-M. (1998) Laclau and Mouffe: The Radical Democratic Imaginary, London: Routledge

Snow, D., Rochford, E., Worden, S.. and Benford R. (1986) 'Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilisation and Movement Participation', American Sociological Review 51.4: 464–81

Spitulnik, D. (1993) 'Anthropology and Mass Media', Annual Review of Anthropology 22: 293–315

Stirling, A. (2005) 'Opening Up or Closing Down? Analysis, Participation and Power in the Social Appraisal of Technology', in M. Leach, I. Scoones and B. Wynne (eds), Science and Citizens: Globalisation and the Challenge of Engagement, London: Zed Press: 218–231

Tarrow, S. (1998) Power in Movement: Social Movements and Contentious Politics, (4th edn), Cambridge: Cambridge Studies in Comparative Studies

Taylor, L. and Willis, A. (1999) Media Studies: Texts, Institutions and Audiences, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers

Thompson, L. (2005a) Managing Mobilisation? Participatory Processes and Dam Building in South Africa, IDS Working Paper 254, Brighton: IDS

—— (2005b) The Science of Water Scarcity Management and Social Mobilisation on Water and the Environment in South Africa's Western Cape Province, IDS Working Paper 255, Brighton: IDS

Tilly, C. (1978) From Mobilization to Revolution, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley

Touraine, A. (1985) 'An Introduction to the Study of New Social Movements', Social Research 52.4: 749–87

Visvanathan, S. (2005) 'Knowledge, Justice and Democracy', in M. Leach, I. Scoones and B. Wynne (eds), Science and Citizens: Globalisation and the Challenge of Engagement, London: Zed Press: 83–96

Waldman, L. (2005) When Social Movements Bypass the Poor: Asbestos Pollution, International Litigation and Griqua Cultural Identity, IDS Working Paper 245, Brighton: IDS

Wynne, Brian (1992) 'Misunderstood Misunderstandings: Social Identities and Public Uptake of Science', Public Understanding of Science 1: 281–304

Young, I.M. (1990) Justice and the Politics of Difference, Princeton: Princeton University Press

(1989) 'Polity and Group Difference: A Critique of the Ideal of Universal Citizenship', Ethics 99: 250–74